12631-0



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

~ ر

73129-7

2016 DEC

-8

2: 29

DAVID W. AIKEN,

Appellant,

vs.

CYNTHIA L. AIKEN

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron L. Shields The Shields Law Firm, PLLC Attorney for Appellant 3301 Hoyt Avenue Everett, WA 98201 T) 425-263-9798 F) 425-263-9978

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

۰.

David Aiken petitions this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

David Aiken seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision filed on November 9, 2015, a copy of which is attached in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- Did the Court of Appeals fail to properly consider and interpret this Court's ruling in *Gourley v. Gourley*, 158 Wn.2d 460, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006)?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's denial of Mr. Aiken's request for a full testimonial hearing on the merits including the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses?
- Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's denial of Mr. Aiken's request for the opportunity to subpoena and depose R.A.?

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's decision on reconsideration that far exceeded the relief requested in the motion for reconsideration?
- Did the Court of Appeals err in awarding attorney fees under RCW 26.50.060(1)(g)?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cynthia Aiken filed an action to dissolve the parties' marriage in the fall of 2013. Despite the parties' many disagreements, ultimately the parties entered into a full settlement agreement on October 31, 2014 after a full day of mediation. (CP 70-71)

For nearly a year prior to the settlement, the parties had been actively participating in the dissolution matter and a guardian ad litem (GAL), Jeanette Heard, had been appointed for the parties' three minor children. (CP 138-139) Under the parenting plan the parties had agreed to pursuant to CR2A, Mr. Aiken was scheduled to have his first Thanksgiving with his children since the parties separated in 2013. The GAL had investigated the parties' allegations and had recommended the children have residential time with Mr. Aiken on alternating weekends, holidays, summer and Christmas vacation as well as a mid-week visit every week. (CP 211; 221)

On November 19, 2014, Ms. Aiken's sister in law, Shelby Morrill, notified Mr. Aiken that R.A. would not be available for his regularly scheduled time as she had been taken to the hospital because she was not feeling well at school. (CP 212) He was later advised that R.A. had a stomachache. (CP 116-119)

On November 21, 2014, Mr. Aiken was scheduled to pick up all three children for his weekend residential time. Ms. Aiken advised that R.A. had made a disclosure to her counselor at school. Mr. Aiken's attorney advised Ms. Aiken's attorney that he would agree not to take R.A. for his scheduled time but that the other two children should, again, participate as they had earlier that week. The GAL, Jeanette Heard, agreed and advised Ms. Aiken's attorney that the younger children would benefit from having time with their father. (CP 75; 213.) However, Ms. Aiken communicated through her attorney that since she had already advised all three girls that they would not be going with their father that she would not be changing her mind. (CP 228.)

The next Monday, both Mr. Aiken's attorney and the GAL attempted to contact Ms. Aiken's attorney in order to make certain that

Ms. Aiken would not be withholding the children during Mr. Aiken's Thanksgiving vacation. (CP 228) Neither Mr. Aiken's attorney nor the GAL received any response suggesting that the residential time would be denied.

On Tuesday, November 25, 2015, Mr. Aiken's attorney contacted Ms. Aiken's attorney again seeking to address the upcoming Thanksgiving holiday; the GAL had advised that the issue need to be immediately addressed. (CP 225) At that time, Ms. Aiken's attorney advised that her client had gone into court on her own and filed a new Petition for Order for Protection under a new cause number. (CP 225) Accordingly, Mr. Aiken was unable to have his Thanksgiving holiday time or any other residential time with any of the children until a further court hearing.

Ms. Aiken's November 24, 2015 Petition alleged that a "member of my family or household is the victim of domestic violence committed by the respondent." (CP 246 paragraph 1.) Ms. Aiken did not allege in paragraph one of her Petition that she was a victim of domestic violence. (CP 246 paragraph 1.) In her Petition, Ms. Aiken identified that another case was pending, Snohomish County Cause Number 13-3-02944-0 that involved her, the minors and the Mr. Aiken. (CP 247 paragraph 6.) At the time she filed this action, the parties' had circulated and negotiated final

documents in the dissolution action, including a final parenting plan. Ms. Aiken's basis for the protection order was specifically related to information conveyed by R.A. and what Ms. Aiken felt were new "findings" after the October 31, 2014 settlement agreement. (CP 72-76)

The order obtained by Ms. Aiken before a pro tem commissioner and without notice restrained Mr. Aiken from having contact with any of the three children and prohibited him from spending his Thanksgiving Holiday with the children.<sup>1</sup>

On December 8, 2014, at the first return hearing, the court modified the protection order eliminating the younger two children from the order and requiring the CR2A parenting plan to be followed. (CP 233-234) Mr. Aiken's attorney orally requested the court set the matter for a full testimonial hearing with cross-examination pursuant to *Gourley v*. *Gourley* and the sitting commissioner suggested that such a request be made in writing. (CP 322) Accordingly, Mr. Aiken's counsel filed a motion for both an extended hearing and a full testimonial hearing with cross-examination. (CP 191-194) Ms. Aiken's attorney objected to the request for a full hearing suggesting that such a request was, itself, further

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note, had this action been commenced by an attorney, notice to opposing counsel would almost certainly have been given prior to entry of an order immediately terminating a parent's holiday visitation under a parenting plan.

evidence of abuse. (CP 144) A different pro tem commissioner denied the request for a full testimonial hearing and further prohibited Mr. Aiken's attorney from deposing or subpoenaing R.A. for the hearing. (CP 16; 141.)

The hearing on Ms. Aiken's Petition was based only upon the pleadings and materials filed with the court and no testimony was taken. The trial court found that Ms. Aiken had established a fear of harm as to R.A. and entered a one-year order protecting R.A. and the two other children from physical harm or harassment. (CP 63 paragraphs 1 and 2.) The court did not find that Ms. Aiken had met any burden related to her allegations about herself and did not enter any restraints as to Ms. Aiken. (CP 282; 62-66).<sup>2</sup>

Ten days later, Ms. Aiken motioned the court to reconsider it's decision and to modify the protection order as to sections (3) and (6) "as it relates to the minor child" R.A. (CP 272; 271.) Ms. Aiken relied upon the decision of *Hecker v. Cortinas*, 110 Wn. App. 865 (2002), as the authority for her motion as well as new allegations subsequent to entry of the February 3, 2015 order. (CP 273; 275.) Mr. Aiken filed a detailed

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The order that entered has two check boxes on page one that are inconsistent with the minute entry as well as the balance of the order in paragraphs 1 and 2. It is not unusual for these check boxes to be filled in by a petitioner or court facilitator prior to the hearing.

response requesting the court deny the motion to reconsider and modify. (CP 29; 34-35.) The court, without any contested hearing or argument, entered a modified order substantially changing the prior order and granting relief beyond that requested. (CP 266.) The modified order was not limited to the three children, included restraints related to Ms. Aiken and also included restraints as to R.A. in section (4), none of which were requested in the motion before the court. (CP 4-6) The court based this decision not on any conduct of Mr. Aiken, but upon the mother's reported acts of R.A., after R.A. had learned from her family that the court had not granted her mother's request for a no contact order.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's decisions and upheld them all suggesting that this court's decision in *Gourley v. Gourley*, 158 Wn.2d 460, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006), did not support Mr. Aiken's request for a testimonial hearing, cross examination nor the ability to depose the minor child, R.A. and that due process was provided in this case. The Court of Appeals further awarded attorney fees under RCW 26.50.060(1)(g) despite the fact this statute does not allow for attorney fees on appeal and Ms. Aiken never requested attorney fees in her underlying petition.

#### E. ARGUMENT

• .

This court should hear this matter because (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals misconstrued and failed to properly apply this Court's decision in <u>Gourley v. Gourley</u>, 158 Wn.2d 460, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006), and (2) it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

The Petition for an Order of Protection is a significant action, which carries with it the ability to curtail substantial rights. *See* RCW 26.50 *et. seq.*, Such relief may often be necessary and reasonable. These sorts of actions, however, also carry with them the ready ability for abuse of the court system and often lead to stigmatize people. Due process requires a full testimonial hearing on the merits. "The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.'" <u>Mathews v. Eldridge</u>, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting <u>Armstrong v. Manzo</u>, 380 U.S. 545,552 (1965)).

Cross-examination is the key safeguard to defend oneself when the only evidence to be considered is hearsay or testimonial records or statements of witnesses. "Cross-examination is the principle means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105 (1974). Moreover, "live testimony and cross-examination" may be appropriate when addressing RCW 26.50 cases involving allegations by a minor against a parent. Gourley v. Gourley 158 Wn.2d 460, 464 and 470 (2006). "[W]here an outcome determinative credibility issue is before the court in a contempt proceeding, it may often be preferable for the superior court judge or commissioner to hear live testimony of the parties or other witnesses, particularly where the presentation of live testimony is requested." Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 352 (2003). "[I]ssues of credibility are ordinarily better resolved in the 'crucible of the courtroom, where a party or witness' fact contentions are tested by crossexamination, and weighed by a court in light of its observations of demeanor and related factors." Id. at 352.

This is precisely the type of case that required a full testimonial hearing as contemplated by the authorities above. In the present case Mr. Aiken specifically raised this issue first at the original return hearing and

then by written motion. Despite this, the pro tem commissioner entered an order denying the request and further prohibiting Mr. Aiken from seeking to examine the witnesses against him at the hearing. Under the facts of this case, the court's refusal to conduct a full testimonial hearing violated Mr. Aiken's due process rights. Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals appears to have summarily dismissed Mr. Aiken's requests with little consideration of the underlying facts and his clear efforts to comply with the <u>Gourley</u> court's decision in order to obtain due process. Accordingly, the court should grant the Petition for Review to address these issues for the lower courts.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Aiken requests this court grant the Petition for Review and consider all of the issues raised in the Court of Appeals below. Mr. Aiken requests this Court make clear that due process, particularly in this case, required the trial court to allow Mr. Aiken the opportunity for a full testimonial hearing with cross examination. Mr. Aiken also requests the Court consider whether Protection Orders that restrain a parent from their child should be based upon a preponderance of the evidence standard or a clear, cogent, and convincing standard given the fundamental liberty interests at stake. Mr. Aiken further requests this court hold that attorney fees were not appropriately awarded when the underlying Petition failed to request them and given the clear differences in language between RCW 26.09.140 and RCW 26.50.060(1)(g).

December 8, 2015

۰.