A. ISSUES FOR REVIEW 

1. Appellant's first issue for review is whether the Court of Appeals 

properly "considered and interpreted" the Washington Supreme 

Court decision of Gourley v Gourley, 158 Wn.2d 460, 145 P.3d 

1185 (2006). The court did consider and properly interpret the 

Gourley decision and review should be denied on this basis. 

2. Appellant's second issue for review is whether the Court of 

Appeals erred in denying Mr. Aiken's a full testimonial hearing on 

the merits including the opportunity to cross-examine a witnesses, 

including a minor child victim, who was 14 years old at the time. 

The court did not err in its ruling. 

3. The third issue for review is whether the court of appeals erred in 

upholding the trial court's denial of Mr. Aiken's request to 

subpoena and depose the 14 year old minor daughter of Mr. Aiken. 

The court did not err in its ruling. 

4. Mr. Aiken's fourth issue is whether the court of Appeals erred in 

upholding the trial court's decision on reconsideration that granted 

additional relief beyond the scope of the motion for 



reconsideration. The court did not err in finding the trial court 

acted within the scope of its authority and the evidence presented. 

5. And finally, did the court of appeals err in awarding Ms. Aiken 

attorney fees under RCW 26.50.060. The court did not err in this 

regard. 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

The Petition for Domestic Violence Protective Order and 

supporting sealed medical records were filed November 24, 2014. (C.P. 

246, 410-472) The petition requests a restraint for the petitioner Ms. Aiken 

as well as for the children (CP. 247) and it includes a statement under 

penalty of perjury that Mr. Aiken had committed domestic violence 

against Ms. Aiken. (C.P. 254~55) A temporary order issued the same day 

signed by Commissioner pro tern David Patterson on an ex parte basis 

without notice to Respondent. The hearing for a one year order was set 14 

days later for December 8, 2014. (C.P 325) 

On December 4, 2014, supplemental sealed medical records were 

provided to the court by Ms. Aiken. (C. P. 366-409) On December 8, 

2014, both sides appeared with counsel before Court Commissioner Lee 
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Tinney. (C.P. 322) Mr. Aiken had not yet been served with the pleadings 

although his counsel had received courtesy copies from Ms. Aiken's 

counsel as evidenced by his attendance at the return hearing. Mr. Aiken 

was formally served immediately prior to the hearing. (C.P. 317) Mr. 

Aiken's counsel made an oral motion for a full testimonial hearing with 

cross examination. Because there were also motions pending in the 

couple's dissolution of marriage action, the count continued the hearing 

for the same day and calendar as those motions and declined to rule on an 

oral motion. (C.P. 322) The court issued a renewed temporary order with 

modifications regarding visits between the father and the two younger 

children, M.A and Q.A. (C.P. 233) 

Prior to the December 22nd hearing both sides filed documents 

supporting their positions. Ms. Aiken's were supplemental in nature. 

(C.P. 161-190, 298*303, 304-216, 332-366) The clerk's papers do not 

reflect a formal Response to the Petition by Mr. Aiken. 

On December 22, 2014, the parties again appeared, this time 

before Commissioner pro tern, G. Geoffrey Gibbs. Mr. Aiken's attorney 

had filed a formal Motion on December 1oth for a full evidentiary hearing 

and to depose R.A. (C.P. 191) Mr. Aiken's motion for an extended 

hearing was granted but his request for a full testimonial hearing or 

request to depose R.A. was denied. (CP 140)A renewed Temporary Order 
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entered until the next available date for extended hearings, February 3, 

2015. (C.P. 296-297) 

On January 9, 2015, counsel for Mr. Aiken deposed Ms. Aiken for 

one and halfhours. (C.P. 67-136) On January 23, 2015, the parties 

entered into an Agreed Modified Reissuance of Temporary Order for 

Protection permitting the parties to both attend events for M.A. and Q.A. 

(C.P. 137). 

Both parties submitted additional documents. Ms. Aiken's were 

supplemental in nature. (C.P. 294) The GAL, Jeannette Heard, filed a 

report. (C.P. 138, 260-264). Mr. Aiken's pleadings are not reflected in the 

clerk's papers. 

On February 3, 2015, an extended hearing was held before Court 

Commissioner Jacalyn Brudvik. Besides the Temporary Order of 

Protection, the court heard several other motions filed by the parties 

relating to their divorce proceeding. (C.P.l92) The resulting order 

restrained Mr. Aiken from "causing physical harm, bodily injury, assault, 

including sexual assault, and from molesting, harassing, threatening, or 

stalking all three children." It further restrains him from" "harassing, 

following, keeping under physical or electronic surveillance, cyber 

stalking as defined in RCW 9.61.260, and using telephonic, audiovisual, 

or other electronic means to monitor the actions, locations, or wire or 
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electronic communication" of all three children. Visitation was allowed, 

"subject to future orders in a dissolution or paternity action." The order 

was issued for one year, until February 3, 2016. (C.P. 10) 

Ms. Aiken filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the order with 

supporting documents as to the child R.A. on February 13,2015 asking 

that Mr. Aiken be restrained from having any contact with R.A., or going 

to her home or school. (C.P. 23-28, 36-66, 329-333) Mr. Aiken replied in 

a written declaration. (C.P. 29-40) The order was modified by the court on 

February 26, 2015. The court also included restraints for Ms. Aiken in 

this revised order. The order is in place until February 3, 2016, one year 

from the extended hearing of February 3, 2015. (C.P. 4, 5) 

Mr. Aiken then filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal. (C.P. 27) The 

court of appeals issued its decision on November 9, 2015. (Exhibit A to 

Petition for Review) 

2. Statement of the Facts. 

This is an appeal of an action based on a Petition for Domestic 

Violence Protection Order sought by Ms. Aiken on behalf of herself and 

her three children, after disclosure of abuse by the oldest child. (C.P. 246, 

410-472) As stated in Mr. Aiken's brief, the parties had settled their 

divorce issues at mediation on October 31, 2014. At the conclusion, they 

executed a Civil Rule 2A agreement concluding all issues in their divorce 
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matter. Final pleadings were drafted and circulated but had not yet 

entered with the court as ofNovember 24, 2014, the day of filing of the 

action being considered under this appeal. 

The parties have three children: R. A. age 14; M.A., age 12; and 

Q. A., age 10 (ages are as of November 2014). (C.P. 247) After the 

mediation, but before entry of the final decree and parenting plan, R.A., 

the oldest of the parties' three daughters, then age 14, cut herself then took 

an overdose of medications, stating that she did so in order to avoid visits 

with her father.(C.P. 253-256, 346-348) She also disclosed physical abuse 

to her school counselor. (C.P. 254)This was a new allegation, not 

previously disclosed. (C.P.254) The school counselor and the child's 

doctor both made reports to Child Protective Services for the State of 

Washington. (C.P. 295) 

Ms. Aiken appeared on the next available court day on a pro se 

basis at the ex parte calendar on Monday November 24, 2014 to present 

her Petition for a Domestic Violence Restraining Order on behalf of 

herself and her three children. Mr. Aiken was not given notice of her 

appearance. The evidence she presented consisted of her declaration and 

counseling records from the Everett Clinic for the three children for the 

year 2014.(C.P.246, 41 0-472) 
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The court was provided with notice of the dissolution of marriage 

action and the Commissioner pro tem took note of the parenting issues in 

entering the temporary order. (C. P. 326) 

The hearing was set in two weeks for December 8, 2014 at 1:00 

p.m. (C.P. 325) At this hearing, Mr. Aiken's attorney made an oral 

motion for an extended hearing on the matter and to be able to depose 

and/or have R.A. testify at the hearing. (C.P. 322) The court declined to 

rule on an oral motion. Because there were several other motions pending 

in the divorce matter, the court continued the hearing on the protection 

order to December 22"d the same day and court calendar as the divorce 

matter. 1 The Temporary DVPO was reissued but the court modified the 

order to permit the two younger children, M.A. and Q.A. to have visits 

with their father. (C.P. 233) 

The December 22"d hearing included Mr. Aiken's then written 

motion for an extended hearing, whether a one year order should enter at 

that time in the DVPO issue and several other issues in the divorce matter. 

Mr. Aiken's request for an extended hearing was granted, and the request 

for testimony of a minor child was denied. (C.P. 140) The Temporary 

DVPO was reissued. (C.P. 296, 297)The matter was yet again continued to 

1 In Snohomish County DVPO hearings are normally set on a separate calendar from 
family law matters. 
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February 3, 2015. The continuance was extended to accommodate both 

attorney schedules and the limited time the court grants to extended 

hearings? 

The extended February hearing brought many issues before 

Commissioner Jacalyn Brudvik. The DVPO order she issued protected 

the safety of all three children but deferred to the orders in the dissolution 

of marriage action as to the parenting arrangements. (C.P. 10) 

R.A. took another overdose of pills on that evening and this time 

was admitted to Fairfax Hospital. (C.P. 42, 53, 292, 331 )Ms. Aiken then 

sought a reconsideration of the order to include language that the Mr. 

Aiken would not have contact with R.A. The court granted this and added 

restraints protecting Ms. Aiken as well, something left off of the 

preceding one year order. The reconsidered final order in this matter is 

effective until February 3, 2016. (C.P. 4-9) 

2 Snohomish County courts allow for a limited number of special set hearings under 
Local Rule SCLRC 7 (b) (2) (D) 110 (C). These hearings allow for extra reading time for 
the Commissioner and extra time for argument for the parties. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. Consideration and interpretation of Gourley, denial of live 
testimony at hearing, and denial of right to depose 14 year old victim 
of domestic violence. 

Mr. Aiken's first three assignments of error are intrinsically linked 

and will be addressed in the first section of this Response. Mr. Aiken's 

Petition does not specify how the court failed to consider and properly 

interpret the Supreme Court's decision in Gourley v. Gourley, 158 N.2d 

460, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006). As a result one must make a leap and assume 

the claim that Gourley was misinterpreted was because Mr. Aiken was not 

allowed to have his then 14 year old daughter deposed before the hearing 

and then cross examined on the stand at the hearing. 

Given the amount of time the appellate court took to discuss the 

Gourley decision and how that ruling applied to the Court of Appeal's 

holding regarding the case at bar, one can only conclude that the case was 

indeed considered by the court of appeals. So the question remains, was 

the Gourley decision properly interpreted by the court of appeals? The 

answer to that question is yes. 

The Gourley decision addressed three main issues, 1, the reliance 

on hearsay in domestic violence cases, 2. due process and 3. attorney fees. 
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The first issue regarding the consideration of hearsay evidence is not 

invoked by Mr. Aiken. The court's consideration ofhearsay evidence is 

specifically pennitted in domestic violence cases under ER 1101. 

A claim of lack of due process appears to be at the heart of Mr. 

Aiken's argument. He appears to have a strong desire to put a suicidal 14 

year old under the onus of cross examination and live testimony. This in 

and of itself could be viewed as abusive. But that is a moral question and 

not a question for the law. 

The court of appeals analyzed whether the procedures at the trial 

court provided Mr. Aiken due process under the test announced in 

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 US 319,334,96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L.ED. 2d 18 

(1976). The test balances l. private interests affected, 2. risk of 

erroneous deprivation of that interest through existing procedures and the 

probable value of any of additional procedural safeguards, and 3. the 

governmental interest, including costs and administrative burdens of 

additional procedures. In making this analysis, the court turned to the 

Gourley decision, comparing it at length with the Aiken case. In 

particular the court noted that DVPOs are temporary in nature, and the 

government has a compelling interest in preventing domestic violence and 

abuse. The court also noted the statutory protections of RCW 26.50 were 

10 



afforded to Mr. Aiken. Based on the record, the court of appeals found 

that Mr. Aiken failed to meet his burden of proving that his due process 

rights were violated. He in fact had the procedural protections of the 

statute. He deposed Ms. Aiken and submitted the deposition transcript to 

the court for the hearing. The full hearing on an extended motions 

calendar also contained significant amounts of written evidence such as a 

Guardian ad Litem report, medical records and mental health records. 

Evidence sufficient to support the trial court's decision to grant or deny a 

petition for a domestic violence protection order may contain hearsay or 

be wholly documentary." Blackmon v. Blackmon, 155 Wash. App. 715, 

722, 230 P.3d 233, 236 (2010) citing Gourley, 158 Wash.2d at 467, 145 

P.3d 1185 (2006); and Hecker v. Cortinas, 110 Wash. App. at 870,43 

P.3d 50 (2002). 

Mr. Aiken's logic is flawed. He uses the argument that because 

the Gourley decision states that cross examination may be appropriate in 

other cases, that means that cross examination is required in all cases. The 

court of appeals analysis considered the Aiken facts as juxtaposed against 

Gourley and determined cross examination was not necessary in the Aiken 

matter as it was not in Gourley. This was not error. The facts of Gourley 

and Aiken are very similar other than the type of abuse alleged. Mr. 

Aiken's complaints echo those of Mr. Gourley and are not persuasive. 
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Appellant cites Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105 

( 197 4) as authority for his position that he should have been allowed to 

cross examine his minor daughter. Davis is a criminal case where the 

issue is the ability to cross examine a prosecution witness who had 

identified the defendant in the crime. The right to confront witnesses in a 

criminal case is a constitutional right. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. 

Const. art. I § 22. Ms. Aiken agrees that right exists. This however, is 

not a criminal case. 

In her concurring decision in Gourley, Judge Christine Quinn

Britnall serving as a justice pro tempore accurately points out that the 

constitutional right to confrontation of accusers is explicitly limited to 

criminal prosecutions. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I§ 22. 

This concurring opinion also pointed out that due process is not a legal 

rule but is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the 

particular situation demands. Gourley at 474. 

Appellant also cites In reMarriage o[Rideout, 150 Wash. 2d 337, 

77 P.3d 1174, (2003), as corrected (Oct. 27, 2003). Rideout is a civil 

contempt case where a mother was found in contempt for failing to follow 

the parenting plan. The hearing was on the written statements only and no 

live testimony was provided. The court upheld the finding of contempt 

12 



despite there being no oral testimony. Mr. Aiken again refers to 

statements by the court that are dicta and not the holding of the court; the 

court's holding that no oral testimony was required is contrary to the 

result Mr. Aiken is now seeking. 

Since Gourley, the Washington courts have consistently upheld the 

constitutionality of the domestic violence protection laws. In addition the 

courts have addressed the due process and right to cross examination issue 

in several cases. 

Given all, we hold DVPA protection orders are special 
proceedings. Thus, the trial court retained the inherent 
authority and discretion to decide the nature and extent of 
any discovery under the DVP A. Therefore, the trial court 
did not err in denying Mr. Crosby's discovery request 
because he fails to show an abuse of discretion. 

Scheib v. Crosby, 160 Wash. App. 345,352,249 P.3d 184, 187 (2011). 

See also Blackmon v. Blackmon, 155 Wash. App. 715 (2010); Spence v. 

Kaminski, 103 Wash App 325 (2000); Hecker v. Cortinas, 110 Wash. 

App. 865 (2002). 

2. Whether the court may issue an order beyond the scope of the 
relief requested in a motion for reconsideration. 

Motions for reconsideration are filed under Civil Rule 59. CR 59 

(e) defines how those motions are to be heard; including whether they will 
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be heard on written documents only or with oral argument upon request. 

Mr. Aiken failed to request oral argument. 

Snohomish County local civil rules, (SCLR 59 (e) (3) (B)), 

provide the method for filing a motion for reconsideration. The rule 

further states, "Absent order of the court, the motion will be taken under 

advisement. Oral arguments will be scheduled only if the court request the 

same." Mr. Aiken did not request oral argument. 

Mr. Aiken cites no legal authority for the basis of his claim that the 

court erred by affirming the trial court's granting of an order purportedly 

beyond the scope of the Motion for Reconsideration. Commissioner 

Brudvik's order is clearly within the relief requested in the original 

Petition for a protective order, it is within her judicial power, and not an 

abuse of discretion to sua sponte grant this relief. 

[a] court granting a protection order "shall have broad 
discretion to grant such relief as the court deems proper." 
Sitting in equity, a court "may fashion broad remedies to do 
substantial justice to the parties and put an end to 
litigation." Carpenter v. Folkerts, 29 Wash.App. 73, 78, 
627 P.2d 559 (1981) (citing Esmieu v. Hsieh, 92 Wash.2d 
530, 535, 598 P.2d 1369 (1979)). 

Hough v. Stockbridge, 150 Wash. 2d 234, 236, 76 P.3d 216, 217 (2003). 
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The court of appeals properly found that the court did not abuse its 

discretion in this reconsideration as the facts before the judicial officer 

support the relief granted. 

3. Attorney fees. 

Mr. Aiken challenges the appellate court's award of attorney fees 

and costs in this action in his concluding paragraph of the Petition for 

Review without citation to any legal authority to support a finding that 

there is error in this award of fees. Attorney fees may be awarded under 

the domestic violence statute, RCW 26.50.060 (l)(gi. Mr. Aiken 

compares this language to RCW 26.09.140 which specifically states that 

the court may award fees upon any appeal. It is conjecture, but the 

undersigned assumes this means that Mr. Aiken believes that if the 

underlying statute does not specify an award on appeal, then it is not 

permitted. However, despite the lack of specific language relating to 

appeals, and despite the fact Ms. Aiken did not seek fees in the underlying 

action, fees may be awarded on appeal. 

Here, the basis for the fee request is statutory and limits her 
request to appellate fees. If attorney fees are allowable at 
trial, the prevailing party may recover fees on appeal. RAP 

3 RCW 26.50.060 (1) (g) Require the respondent to pay the administrative court 
costs and service fees, as established by the county or municipality incurring the 
expense and to reimburse the petitioner for costs incurred in bringing the action, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees. 
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18.1; see also Landbergv. Carlson, 108 Wash.App. 749, 
758, 33 P.3d 406 (2001). 

Scheib v. Crosbv, 160 Wash. App. 345, 353, 249 P.3d 184, 188 (2011). 

Scheib v. Crosby, is a domestic violence case which specifically found that 

the award of fees on appeal of a domestic violence protection order case is 

proper. 

Here again, Ms. Aiken, the victim of domestic violence is faced 

with incurring yet more fees to respond to this Petition for Review. She 

should be awarded yet more fees to defend against this continued assault 

through the court system. 

4. Other Issues argued but not alleged to be error. 

Mr. Aiken's concluding paragraph, also without citation to any 

legal basis at all, asks that the court should apply a different standard of 

review than preponderance of the evidence, and that the court should 

apply a clear, cogent and convincing standard to domestic violence 

protection order cases. However, he does not assert that the court of 

appeals erred by failing to make this finding in their decision. The court 

of appeals found that because Mr. Aiken's due process rights were 

sufficiently met, there is no need for a higher standard of review. 

Clear, cogent, and convincing evidence exists when the ultimate 

fact in issue is shown by the evidence to be" 'highly probable' ".In re 
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Sego, 82 Wash.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973) (quoting Supove v. 

Densmoor, 225 Or. 365,358 P.2d 510 (1961)). 

In re Dependency o[K.R., 128 Wash. 2d 129, 141,904 P.2d 1132, 1138 
(1995). 

The dependency statute cited in Mr. Aiken's Appellant's brief requires the 

State of Washington to prove parental unfitness by clear, cogent and 

convincing evidence.4 A dependency case is a far cry from a one year 

protection order. In a dependency action the state is attempting to 

permanently sever the parent/child relationship. Mr. Aiken's status as a 

parent is not altered by the relief granted to Ms. Aiken. Mr. Aiken has not 

lost a "fundamental liberty" as stated in the conclusion to the Petition for 

Review. The court of appeals did not err in finding Mr. Aiken's due 

process rights were met and a higher standard of proof is unnecessary. 

Furthermore, such a standard of review would have a chilling effect on the 

willingness of domestic victims to seek protection and would be contrary 

to the interests of the state of Washington to protect victims of domestic 

violence. 

4 RCW 13.34.180(5) provides that there must be proof by clear, cogent, and convincing 
evidence that there is little likelihood that conditions will be remedied so that the child 
can be returned to the parent. 
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D. CONCLUSION 

Appellant's petition should be dismissed. Given the content of 

this Petition, it is nothing more than one more opportunity for Mr. Aiken 

to increase his former wife's attorney fee burden. Ms. Aiken should be 

awarded further fees pursuant to RAP 18.1 in responding to this 

inadequate Petition. The Appellant has failed to provide this court with 

authority sufficient to support his Petition for Review. The court did not 

err in affirming the trial court's decision. 

The decision rendered by the court of appeals is not in conflict 

with any other appellate decision nor with any decision reached by the 

Supreme Court for the State of Washington. This order expires February 

3, 2016, and the issue will be moot before this court even determines if the 

Petition for Review should be granted. 

Furthermore, there is no outstanding issue of substantial public 

interest. Mr. Aiken has his own interests in mind in having the restraining 

order set aside but the court of appeals did not err in the way it considered 

the underlying legal precedents, applied those to the facts, and then 

affirmed the trial court's decision. Mr. Aiken's Petition for Review 
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should be denied on all grounds and Ms. Aiken awarded further costs and 

fees.